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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Shareholders of STEP Energy Services Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of STEP Energy Services Ltd. (the “Entity”), 

which comprise: 

• the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 

2019 

• the consolidated statements of net loss and other comprehensive loss for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years then ended 

• the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 

consolidated financial position of the Entity as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and its 

consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ Responsibilities for 

the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 
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Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 

2020. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 

provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be 

communicated in our auditors’ report. 

Assessment of the Recoverable Amount of Cash Generating Units 

Description of the matter  

We draw attention to note 1, note 2, and note 7 to the financial statements. Property 

and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, and goodwill are tested for 

impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount. Assets are grouped into cash generating units 

(“CGUs”) for the purposes of measuring recoverable amounts. These calculations 

require the use of estimates applied by management regarding forecasted activity 

levels, expected future results, and discount rates among others, and are subject to 

changes as new information becomes available. Changes in assumptions used in 

determining the recoverable amount could have a material effect on the carrying value 

of the related assets and CGUs. 

At each reporting period, the Entity concluded that indicators of impairment existed for 

at least one CGU. Recoverable amounts for those CGUs were determined using 

discounted cash flows, terminal growth rates and discount rates. The entity has 

recorded an impairment charge for the year of $71.9 million. 

Why the matter is a key audit matter 

We identified the assessment of the recoverable amount of cash generating units as a 

key audit matter. This matter represented a significant risk of material misstatement 

given the magnitude of long-lived assets and the high degree of estimation uncertainty 

in determining the recoverable amount of the CGUs. As a result, significant auditor 

judgment was required in evaluating the results of our procedures due to the sensitivity 

of the Entity’s assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount.  

How the matter was addressed in the audit 

The primary procedures we performed to address this key audit matter included the 

following:  

We evaluated the cash flows of each of the Entity’s CGUs by comparing the Entity’s 

cash flows to historical results considering the impact of changes in conditions and 

events affecting each CGU. 

We compared the cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 for each of the 

Entity’s CGUs to the corresponding amount in the budget reviewed by the Entity’s 

Board of Directors to assess consistency with other significant assumptions used by the 

Entity in other estimates in the financial statements. 
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We compared the Entity’s prior year cash flows for the current year to actual current 

year results to assess the Entity’s ability to accurately forecast. 

We involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who 

assisted in:  

 Evaluating the Entity’s terminal growth rate and discount rate by comparing it to publicly 
available market data for comparable entities. 

 Assessing the Entity’s estimate of the recoverable amount of each CGU by comparing the 
Entity’s estimate to market metrics and other external data. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information comprises: 

 the information included in Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) filed with the 

relevant Canadian securities commissions and regulators. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will 

not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for 

indications that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 

We obtained the information included in the MD&A filed with the relevant Canadian securities 

commissions and regulators as at the date of this auditors’ report. If, based on the work we have 

performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact in the auditors’ report. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 
for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Entity’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Entity or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 

includes our opinion. 
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 

professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity's ability to continue as a going concern. 

If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 

report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 

to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 

of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 

in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

• Provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 

ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and 

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

related safeguards. 
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• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 

business activities within the group Entity to express an opinion on the financial statements. We 

are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

• Determine, from the matters communicated with those charged with governance, those matters 

that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 

therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, 

we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our auditors’ report because the 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 

benefits of such communication. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this auditors’ report is Richard John Mussenden. 

 

 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
Calgary, Canada 
March 17, 2021 
 



 
   

  
 

 

  
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
The management of STEP Energy Services Ltd. is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements and all other information contained in these financial statements. The accompanying 
consolidated financial statements, which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 
and 2019, and the consolidated statements of net loss and comprehensive loss, consolidated changes in equity and 
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended, are the responsibility of management and have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), using management’s best estimates and judgments.  
 
The Company maintains internal accounting control systems which are adequate to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded, transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and financial records are reliable 
as a basis for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and monitors management’s financial and accounting policies and 
practices and the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.   The Audit Committee reviews with management 
and the external auditors the consolidated financial statements of the Company prior to submission to the Board of Directors 
for final approval. The external auditors have full and free access to the Audit Committee to discuss auditing and financial 
reporting matters.  
 
The shareholders have appointed KPMG LLP as the external auditors of the Company and, in that capacity, they have examined 
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Auditors’ Report to the shareholders is 
presented herein.  
 

SIGNED “Regan Davis”  

Regan Davis 
PRESIDENT & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
 
March 17, 2021 
 

SIGNED “Michael Kelly”  

Michael Kelly 
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

As at December 31,    
(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes  2020  2019 

ASSETS      
Current Assets      
  Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,266 $ 7,267 
  Trade and other receivables 17  63,471  104,723 
  Income tax receivable   1,960  8,702 
  Inventory 4  26,990  28,402 
  Prepaid expenses and deposits   5,782  8,418 
  Assets held for sale   -  1,364 
    99,469  158,876 
Property and equipment 5  368,164  507,045 
Right-of-use assets 6  11,453  18,793 
Intangible assets   773  1,325 

   $ 479,859 $ 686,039 

      
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY      
Current Liabilities      
  Trade and other payables 17 $ 50,595 $ 77,065 
  Income tax payable 17  88  86 
  Current portion of lease obligations 6  5,919  9,569 
    56,602  86,720 
Deferred tax liabilities 16  3,830  29,015 
Lease obligations 6  6,798  9,452 
Other liabilities 11  420  611 
Loans and borrowings 8  207,630  237,418 
    275,280  363,216 
Shareholders' equity      
  Share capital 10  431,798  428,817 
  Contributed surplus   32,371  32,198 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income   3,812  5,852 
  Deficit   (263,402)  (144,044) 

     204,579  322,823 

    $ 479,859 $ 686,039 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
See Note 8 – Subsequent event 
See Note 9 – Commitments 
See Note 19 – Contingencies and provisions 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors: 

SIGNED “Douglas Freel”                                                                                             SIGNED “Regan Davis”  

Douglas Freel                                                                                                                  Regan Davis 
Chairman                                                                                                                         Director   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF NET LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
 

For the year ended December 31,    
(in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts) Notes  2020  2019  

      

Revenue  $ 368,945 $ 668,297 

Operating expenses 13  402,355  661,600 

Gross profit    (33,410)  6,697 

      

Selling, general and administrative expenses 13  27,704  36,423 

Results from operating activities   (61,114)  (29,726) 

      

Finance costs 15  14,663  15,621 

Foreign exchange (gain) loss   443  (1,886) 

Gain on disposal of property and equipment   (3,777)  (965) 

Amortization of intangible assets   555  5,012 

Foreign exchange forward contract loss   -  383 

Impairment  7  72,345  127,217 

Loss before income tax   (145,343)  (175,108) 

      

Income tax recovery       

   Current 16  (981)          (10,136) 

   Deferred 16  (25,004)       (21,089) 

    (25,985)       (31,225) 

Net loss    (119,358)  (143,883) 

      

Other comprehensive (loss) income      

   Foreign currency translation gain (loss)    (2,040)  (16,818) 

Total comprehensive loss   $ (121,398) $ (160,701) 

Loss per share:      

Basic  12 $ (1.77) $ (2.16) 

Diluted  12 $ (1.77) $ (2.16) 
  

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
  

  Share Contributed  

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive     
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes  capital  surplus (loss) income Deficit  Total  

           
Balance at January 1, 2019  $ 426,494 $ 29,447 $ 22,670 $ (7) $ 478,604 
Impact of change in accounting policy   -  -  -  (154)  (154) 
Net loss for the year   -  -  -  (143,883)  (143,883) 
Foreign currency translation gain    -  -  (16,818)  -  (16,818) 
Share-based compensation 11  -  5,074  -  -  5,074 
Exercise of equity instruments 10  2,323  (2,323)  -  -  - 

Balance at December 31, 2019  $ 428,817 $ 32,198 $ 5,852 $ (144,044) $ 322,823 

            

Balance at January 1, 2020  $ 428,817 $ 32,198 $ 5,852 $ (144,044) $ 322,823 
Net loss for the year   -  -  -  (119,358)  (119,358) 
Foreign currency translation loss  -  -  (2,040)  -  (2,040) 
Share-based compensation  11  -  2,922  -  -  2,922 
Exercise of equity instruments 10  2,981  (2,749)  -  -  232 

Balance at December 31, 2020  $ 431,798 $ 32,371 $ 3,812 $ (263,402) $ 204,579 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 

For the year ended December 31,   

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes  2020  2019  

      
Operating activities:      
   Net loss   $ (119,358) $ (143,883) 
   Adjusted for the following:      
     Depreciation and amortization 5,6  88,940  106,549 
     Share-based compensation 11  3,610  6,998 
     Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss   721  (2,258) 
     Gain on disposal of property and equipment   (3,777)  (965) 
     Foreign exchange forward contract loss   -  383 
     Impairment 7  72,345  127,217 
     Finance costs 15  14,663  15,621 
     Income tax recovery 16  (25,985)  (31,225) 
     Cash finance costs paid   (14,842)  (15,449) 
     Income taxes recovered (paid)   8,046  (3,348) 
     Changes in non-cash working capital from operating activities 22  22,440  10,301 

Net cash provided by operating activities   46,803  69,941 

      
Investing activities:      
   Purchase of property and equipment 5  (17,826)  (49,061) 
   Proceeds from disposal of equipment and vehicles   6,685  3,624 
   Changes in non-cash working capital from investing activities 22  (5,411)  1,257 
Net cash used in investing activities   (16,552)  (44,180) 

      
Financing activities:      
   Repayment of loans and borrowings 8  (30,409)  (12,279) 
   Repayment of obligations under finance lease   (6,088)  (6,654) 
   Settlement of foreign exchange forward contracts   17  -  (338) 
Net cash used in financing activities   (36,497)  (19,271) 

      
Impact of exchange rate changes on cash   245  413 

      
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (6,001)  6,903 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   7,267  364 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 1,266 $ 7,267 
 
See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
As at and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.  
 
Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except where otherwise noted. 
 
 

NOTE 1 – NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
STEP Energy Services Ltd. (the “Company”, “STEP Energy Services” or “STEP”) is a publicly traded company domiciled in Canada, 
incorporated under the laws of the Province of Alberta on March 25, 2011 and is listed under the symbol “STEP” on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange. The registered office of the Company is 4300, 888 - 3rd Street SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 5C5 and the principal 
place of business is 1200, 205-5th Ave SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 2V7. STEP provides specialized coiled tubing and associated 
pumping and fracturing equipment to service the oil and gas industry in Canada and the United States (“U.S.”).  
 

Statement of Compliance  

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  
 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared under the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value. These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is 
the presentation currency of the Company. All financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousands, except where 
indicated.  
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors (“Board”) on March 17, 2021.  
 

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments  

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and judgments 
concerning the reported amount of revenue and expenses and the carrying values of assets and liabilities. These estimates are 
based on historical experience and management’s judgment. The estimation of anticipated future events involves uncertainty 
and therefore the estimates used by management in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements may change as 
events unfold, additional knowledge is acquired or the environment in which the Company operates changes.  
 
COVID-19 and Liquidity  
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a global pandemic. COVID-19 had a 
significant negative impact on the 2020 global markets and in particular demand for crude oil. The demand destruction caused 
a significant deterioration in economic conditions for STEP’s clients, suppliers, employees, and STEP’s financial performance 
compared to the prior year. The introduction of vaccines has led to optimism; however, the situation continues to evolve.     

Management continues to monitor the COVID-19 situation and should the duration, spread and intensity of the pandemic 
further develop in 2021, further negative impacts on client demand, supply chains, employees and market pricing can be 
expected. 
 
COVID-19 has created many uncertainties with respect to counterparty credit risk, liquidity and the valuation of long-lived 
assets, inventory and right-of-use assets.  At December 31, 2020, management has incorporated the anticipated impact of 
COVID-19 in estimates and judgments in the preparation of these financial statements to the extent known at this time. 
Outcomes that are different from assumptions used in estimates could require a material adjustment within the next financial 
year. 
 
We are expecting compliance with the financial covenants applicable to our credit facilities for at least the next twelve 
months.  A decrease or sustained period of materially reduced client spending and demand for STEP’s services may result in 
non-compliance with our financial covenants and reduced liquidity related to changes in our credit facilities.  Non-compliance 
with the financial covenants in our credit facilities could result in our debt becoming due and payable on demand.  Should we 
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anticipate non-compliance we will proactively approach our lending syndicate to amend the credit facilities to ensure their 
availability.  There is no certainty that we will be successful in negotiating such amendments. 
 
Business combination 
The Company estimates the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities incurred as well as any fair value of intangible assets 
identified as a result of business combinations. This requires an assessment of estimated cash flows and market conditions in 
order to determine the fair value of net identifiable assets. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining 
the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the amounts assigned to assets, liabilities, intangible assets, 
goodwill, and deferred taxes in the purchase price equation. Goodwill, if any, is allocated to the Cash Generating Unit (“CGU”) 
which represents the lowest level within the Company at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 
 
Allowance for doubtful accounts 
The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and provides credit based on a review of historical 
collections, current aging status, the customer’s financial condition and anticipated market conditions.  Customer payments 
are regularly monitored. A provision of doubtful accounts is established based off the Company’s lifetime expected credit losses 
(“ECLs”) for trade receivables and probability weighted collectability of significant accounts.  
 
Assets held for sale 
When required, the Company assesses whether assets qualify as assets held for sale. A non-current asset or disposal group is 
classified as held-for-sale when its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction and the sale is 
reasonably certain. Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  
 
Impairment  
Property and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, and goodwill are tested for impairment when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.   
 
The determination of CGUs is based on management’s judgment regarding shared equipment, mobility of equipment, 
geographical proximity and materiality. The recoverable amount of CGUs is determined as the greater of fair value less costs 
to sell (“FVLCTS”) or the value in use (“VIU”).  These calculations require the use of estimates applied by management regarding 
forecasted activity levels, expected future results, and discount rates among others, and are subject to changes as new 
information becomes available. Changes in assumptions used in determining the recoverable amount could have a material 
effect on the carrying value of the related assets and CGUs. 
 
The Company’s CGUs are defined as: Canadian Coiled Tubing, Canadian Fracturing, U.S. Coiled Tubing, and U.S. Fracturing. 
Considerations set out in management’s analysis included cash inflows by business line, operational considerations and the 
nature of asset usage.  
 
Goodwill represents an excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired and is not amortized.  The 
Company assesses goodwill for impairment at least annually.  
 
Net realizable value of inventory 
The Company regularly reviews the nature and quantities of inventory on hand and evaluates the net realizable value of items 
based on historical usage patterns, known changes to equipment or processes, estimated replacement costs and customer 
demand for specific products. Significant or unanticipated changes in business conditions could impact the magnitude and 
timing of expense recognized. 
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Depreciation and amortization  
Depreciation and amortization of the Company’s property and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets 
incorporates estimates of useful lives and residual values.  These estimates may change as more knowledge is obtained or as 
general market conditions change, or technological advancements are made. 
 
Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets  
The measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets incorporates an estimate of lease terms. The term of a lease is 
determined as the non-cancellable period of a lease and includes periods covered by an option to extend the lease if the 
Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option. In considering the option to extend a lease, the Company considers all 
relevant facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise or not exercise the option. The lease term is 
revised if there is a change in circumstances in which the Company does or does not extend the lease extension option 
previously included in the initial measurement of a lease, or an event occurs that obliges or prohibits the Company from further 
extending the lease. In the event there is a change in estimate of a lease term, the Company remeasures lease liabilities and 
right-of-use assets at the date of the change in estimate.  
 
Functional currency 
Management applies judgment in determining the functional currency of its foreign subsidiaries.  The decision is influenced by 
the currency that is used for sales prices, labour, materials and other costs as well as financings and receipts from operations. 
 
Income taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Estimates of the Company’s future 
taxable income are considered in assessing the utilization of available tax losses.  The calculation of income taxes involves many 
complex factors including the Company’s interpretation of the relevant tax legislation and regulations.  
 
Share-based payments 
The fair value of equity settled share-based compensation instruments is estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model, which includes estimating underlying assumptions related to the risk-free interest rate, average expected 
unit life, estimated forfeitures, estimated volatility of the Company’s shares and anticipated dividends. 
 
Contingencies and provisions  
The Company establishes provisions for legal claims when the outcome of such matters is probable.  Facts and circumstances 
surrounding the matter and input from legal and other advisors is considered in establishing the estimate. 
 
NOTE 2 – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
The following is a summary of significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.  
These accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements, 
except as disclosed in changes in significant accounting policies.  
 

Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, which are entities over 
which the Company has control. Control exists when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The financial 
results of the Company’s subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date control ceases. The accounting policies of the Company’s subsidiaries have been aligned with the 
policies adopted by the Company. All inter-company balances and transactions, and any income and expenses arising from 
inter-company transactions have been eliminated upon preparation of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

Foreign Currency Translation 

Each of the Company’s subsidiaries is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 
subsidiary operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which 
is the Company’s presentation currency.  
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Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction 
date.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and from the translation 
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than a Company’s functional 
currency are recognized in the consolidated statement of net loss. 
 
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries that have a different functional currency are translated into Canadian dollars 
whereby assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange at each reporting date, revenue and expenses are 
translated at average exchange rates for the period, any gains and losses in translation are initially recognized in other 
comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the foreign subsidiary.  The U.S. 
entities’ functional currency is the U.S. Dollar. 
 

Business Combinations 

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations whereby the assets and liabilities of its 
acquired entities are measured at their estimated fair value at acquisition date.  The Company measures goodwill as the fair 
value of the consideration transferred, less the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured 
at the acquisition date.  
 

Assets Held for Sale 

The Company classifies non-current assets as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. Assets held for sale are available for immediate sale in its present condition 
subject only to terms and conditions that are usual and customary for sales of such assets and there is high probability to sell.  
 
Assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment losses on 
assets held for sale are recognized in profit or loss.  
 

Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are recognized at fair value on initial recognition less transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of the financial instrument. Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the purpose for which the 
instruments were acquired. Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other 
comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of the Company’s business model and contractual cash 
flows of the financial asset. Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost with the exception of financial 
liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, such as the Company’s foreign exchange forward contracts. Gains or 
losses on financial instruments measured at fair value are recognized in profit or loss.  
 
The Company directly writes off the gross carrying amount of financial assets when the Company has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Company recognizes loss allowances for 
ECLs that reflect probability-weighted amounts that are determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value 
of money, and reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date 
about past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions.  
 
Transaction costs include only those costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or origination of a financial asset or 
issue of a financial liability. Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments measured subsequently at 
fair value are expensed as incurred. All other transaction costs are amortized using the effective interest method.  
 

Share Capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized 
as a reduction of equity, net of any tax effects.  
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less.     
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Inventory 

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories comprise of all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing inventories to their present location and condition.  Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business. The Company writes down inventory to net realizable 
value when it is determined the cost of inventories may not be recoverable. Any write downs of inventories to net realizable 
value and all losses of inventories are recognized as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. Coiled tubing string 
inventory cost is determined on a specific item basis.   All other inventory value is determined using weighted average cost. 
 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.  Cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets, and subsequent expenditures to the extent 
that they can be measured and future economic benefit is probable. 
 
The carrying amount of an asset is derecognized when the asset is disposed of.  Major improvements or retrofits are capitalized. 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of net loss during the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Management estimates the useful life and salvage value of property and equipment based on expected utilization and expected 
life. The Company allocates the amounts initially recognized in respect of an item of property and equipment to its significant 
components and depreciates each component separately. Residual values, methods of amortization and useful lives are 
reviewed annually and adjusted, if appropriate.  
 
Property and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives using the straight-line method over the 
following periods: 

Buildings    20 years 
Vehicles 3 years 
Field equipment    3 to 15 years  
Office equipment   3 to 5 years 

 
Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the date the asset becomes fully 
depreciated, is derecognized or is classified as available for sale. Depreciation does not cease when an asset becomes idle or is 
retired from active use unless the asset is fully depreciated to its estimated salvage value. Assets under construction are not 
depreciated until they are substantially complete and available for use. 
 

Impairment  

Property and equipment, right-of-use assets, and intangible assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount.  Assets are grouped into CGUs, the lowest 
level with separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets, for the purposes 
of measuring recoverable amounts.  The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of the CGU’s VIU and FVLCTS. CGUs 
are not larger than an operating segment. In assessing VIU, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. FVLCTS is defined as the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or CGU in an arm’s length transaction 
between knowledgeable parties, less the costs to dispose of the CGU. 
 
Goodwill, if present, is reviewed for impairment annually or any time there is an indicator of impairment. Goodwill acquired 
through a business combination is allocated to the CGU or group of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the related business 
combination. The CGU represents the lowest level within the Company at which goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes. The Company evaluates impairment losses, other than goodwill impairment, for potential reversals when events or 
circumstances warrant such consideration. 
 
Impairment losses for assets recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the carrying 
value of the CGU has increased. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount and only to the extent that the assets’ carrying value does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
be determined, net of amortization or depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 
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Lease Liabilities and Right-of-Use Assets  

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A contract is or contains a lease if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. In 
order to perform this assessment, the Company determines whether: i.) The Company has the right to obtain substantially all 
of the economic benefits from use of the asset through the period of use; and ii.) The Company has the right to direct the use 
of the identified asset.  
 
The term of the lease is determined as the non-cancellable period of a lease and periods in which there is reasonable certainty 
the Company will exercise an option to extend or cancel a lease. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances 
that would create an economic incentive to extend or terminate a lease.  
 
At the commencement date of a lease, the Company measures lease liabilities at the present value of remaining estimated 
lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in a lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. Subsequently, the carrying amount of lease liabilities 
is increased by interest, offset by lease payments made.  
 
The initial cost of right-of-use assets is measured as the value of the lease liability, adjusted for any lease incentives received 
and initial direct costs. Right-of-use assets are recognized at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. The Company primarily leases light duty vehicles, office buildings, service centers, and copiers. Recognition 
exemptions permitted include short term leases or leases for which the underlying asset is of low value. If a contract meets 
these criteria the Company expenses the payments in the consolidated statements of net loss and other comprehensive loss. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date of the lease to the earlier of 
the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The useful lives of right-of-use assets are over 
the following periods: 

Buildings    2 to 7 years 
Vehicles  2 to 3 years 
Office equipment   3 to 5 years 

 

Borrowing Costs 

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost of those 
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.  Qualifying assets are defined as assets which 
take a substantial time period (greater than a year) to construct.  The Company does not currently have any qualifying assets.   
 
All other borrowing costs are recognized as interest expense in the consolidated statement of net loss and other 
comprehensive loss in the period in which they are incurred.   
 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets acquired individually or as part of a group of other assets are initially recognized and measured at cost.  The 
cost of a group of intangible assets acquired in a transaction, including those acquired in a business combination that meet the 
specified criteria for recognition apart from goodwill, is allocated to the individual assets acquired based on fair values. 
 
Expenditures incurred to acquire, develop, maintain and enhance intangible assets are recognized as assets only if they arise 
from contractual or other legal rights; it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the 
asset will flow to the Company; and the cost can be reliably measured.  
 
Subsequent expenditures to maintain such expected economic benefits are only capitalized to the carrying amount of the 
existing intangible asset if these expenditures separately meet the prescribed criteria for recognition as an intangible and that 
these costs could be directly attributable to a specific intangible rather than to the business as a whole. 
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Intangible assets lives are finite and are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

Technology license   11 years 
Non-compete    4 years 

Income Taxes 

Income taxes comprise current and deferred tax.  Income tax is recognized in the consolidated statement of net loss and other 
comprehensive loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity, in which case the income tax is 
also recognized directly in equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on taxable income for the year, using the tax rates effective at the end of 
the reported period, and any adjustments to tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. 
 
In general, deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax basis of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise 
from the initial recognition of goodwill.  Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates substantially enacted at the 
reporting date. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be applied.  
 
The Company maintains provisions, if necessary, for uncertain tax positions that it believes appropriately reflect the risk of tax 
positions under discussion, audit, dispute, or appeal with tax authorities, or which are otherwise considered to involve 
uncertainty. These provisions are made using the Company’s best estimate of the amount expected to be paid based on an 
assessment of all relevant factors, which are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
 

Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be 
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount rate is recognized as a finance 
cost.  
 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is recognized at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange 
for transferring goods or services to a customer. Revenue is recognized once performance obligations are satisfied. The 
Company’s performance obligations are satisfied from oil and gas services performed over time as customers simultaneously 
receive and consume the benefits provided. Invoices for services rendered are issued upon completion of the work, generally 
within the same period.  
 
The consideration for services rendered is measured at the fair value of the consideration received and allocated based on 
their standalone selling prices. Revenue is measured net of returns, trade discounts and volume discounts. 
 

Share-based Compensation  

The Company has equity-settled long-term incentive share-based compensation plans which provide for the granting of 
options, performance warrants, performance share units and restricted share units to directors, officers, and employees. There 
are no provisions for cash settlement in these plans.  
 
The Company follows the fair value method of valuing share-based compensation instruments. Under this method, 
compensation cost is measured at fair value at the date of grant and expensed over the vesting period with a corresponding 
increase to contributed surplus. Upon the exercise of an instrument, consideration paid together with the amount previously 
recognized in contributed surplus is recorded as an increase to share capital. 
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The fair value of each tranche within an award is measured at the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. Assumptions used in the model include interest rates, underlying volatility, expected life of the tranche, estimated 
performance metrics and estimated forfeiture rates. The number of awards expected to vest is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
The Company also has a cash-settled long-term incentive plan (“the Phantom PRSU Plan”) for its employees and executives 
and a deferred share unit (“DSU”) plan for its directors. At each reporting date between the grant date and settlement date, 
the fair value of the liability is re-measured with any changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statement of net loss 
and other comprehensive loss. 
   

Earnings per Share  

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit or loss by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the period. Diluted earnings per share is calculated through the adjustment of profit or loss and the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  
 

Segment Reporting 

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and 
incur expenses.  All operating results are reviewed regularly on a segmented basis by the Company’s executive officers to make 
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance.  
 

Changes in Significant Accounting Policies 

 
IAS 20 – Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure  
The Company has adopted IAS 20 effective for the year ended December 31, 2020. Government grants are not recognized 
until there is reasonable assurance that the Company will comply with conditions attached to them and the grants will be 
received. The Company uses the income approach in which government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic 
basis over the periods in which the entity recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to 
compensate. Grants receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred for the purpose of giving immediate 
financial support to the Company, with no future related costs shall be recognized in profit or loss in the period in which it 
becomes available.  
 
The following standards were issued and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. These are reflected 
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020. 
 
 
IFRS 3 – Business Combinations 
Amendments to IFRS 3 are effective as of January 1, 2020. The amendments narrow and clarify the definition of a business as 
an integrated set of activities and assets that are capable of being conducted and managed for the purpose of providing goods 
and services to customers, generating investment income or generating other income from ordinary activities. Additionally, in 
evaluating a business the amendments include an optional concentration test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an 
acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. STEP did not have any acquisitions requiring the application of this 
amendment. 
 
IFRS 16 – Leases 
As a result of amendments to IFRS 16, a practical expedient was applied for rent concessions resulting from COVID-19. The 
amendments, which are effective as of June 1, 2020 indicate a lessee may elect not to assess whether a rent concession is a 
lease modification and instead recognize the concession in profit or loss. The practical expedient may be applied if the following 
conditions are met: (a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same 
as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; (b) any reduction in lease payments affects 
only payments originally due on or before June 30, 2021; and (c) there is not substantive change to other terms and conditions 
of the lease. The Company has applied the practical expedient for all rent concessions meeting the qualifying criteria for the 
year ended December 31, 2020. 
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Future Accounting Pronouncements 

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s financial 
statements include:  
 

1) Amendments to the definition of a current liability – IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
The Company intends to adopt this standard for the annual reporting period starting January 1, 2023 and does not expect any 
significant impact from adoption of these amendments.  
 
NOTE 3 – GOVERNMENT GRANTS 
 
Due to COVID-19 (see Note 1 –COVID-19 and Liquidity) the Government of Canada has implemented the COVID-19 Economic 
Response Plan. Under the plan, the Company is eligible for the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (“CEWS”) in which Canadian 
businesses impacted by COVID-19 may be eligible for wage subsidies for any week retroactive from March 15, 2020 to June 
2021. The program is currently divided into four week periods. CEWS was primarily calculated using a sliding scale of subsidy 
based on overall revenue reductions in each period. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has recognized 
$11.7 million in grants under the CEWS as a reduction of employee costs in operating expenses $9.9 million  and selling, general, 
and adminstrative expenses $1.8 million.  
 
In addition, Canadian businesses who have seen a drop in revenue due to COVID-19 may be eligible for the Canadian Emergency 
Rent Subsidy (“CERS”) to cover part of their commercial rent or property expenses retroactive from September 27, 2020 to 
June 2021. Claim periods are divided into four week periods. The Company met the eligibility requirements and CERS was 
calculated based on overall revenue reductions in each period. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has 
recognized $0.03 million in grants under CERS as a reduction to selling, general, and adminstrative expenses. 
 
NOTE 4 – INVENTORY  
 

As at December 31,   2020   2019 

Coiled tubing $ 4,975 $  6,677  
Sand and chemicals   10,364   8,217  
Spare equipment and parts  11,651   13,508  
Total Inventory $ 26,990 $  28,402  

 
The cost of inventories recognized in operating expenses during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $117.0 million (2019 
- $200.8 million). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred write-downs to net realizable value of $0.8 million 
(December 31, 2019 –$0.9 million) respectively comprised of coiled tubing, sand and chemicals.  
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NOTE 5 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 

  Land and    Field  Office    

  buildings  Vehicles  equipment equipment  Total  

Cost:           
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 37,819 $ 29,017 $ 689,370 $ 8,029 $ 764,235 
  Reclassification of opening right-of-use 
assets  -  (28,145)  -  -  (28,145) 
  Additions  865  -  47,473  723  49,061 
  Disposals  -  (199)  (5,053)  -  (5,252) 
  Reclassification of assets held for sale  (1,070)  -  (18,541)  (144)  (19,755) 
  Effect of exchange rate changes  (582)  (6)  (14,881)  (55)  (15,524) 
Balance at December 31, 2019  37,032  667  698,368  8,553  744,620 
  Additions  304  -  17,281  241  17,826 
  Disposals  -  (41)  (6,822)  -  (6,863) 
  Reclassification of assets held for sale  752  -  614  -  1,366 
  Effect of exchange rate changes  (253)  -  (6,356)  (25)  (6,634) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 37,835 $ 626 $ 703,085 $ 8,769 $ 750,315 

           
Accumulated depreciation:           
Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 3,981 $ 9,454 $ 145,251 $ 5,407 $ 164,093 
  Reclassification of opening right-of-use 
assets  -  (8,631)  -  -  (8,631) 

  Depreciation  1,532  26  89,465  1,417  92,440 

  Disposals  -  (186)  (1,765)  -  (1,951) 

  Reclassification of assets held for sale  (256)  -  (4,677)  (64)  (4,997) 

  Effect of exchange rate changes  (45)  (6)  (3,334)  6  (3,379) 

Balance at December 31, 2019  5,212  657  224,940  6,766  237,575 
  Depreciation  1,537  12  78,750  696  80,995 

  Impairment  3,902  -  67,702  246  71,850 

  Disposals  -  (35)  (3,826)  -  (3,861) 

  Effect of exchange rate changes  (55)  (8)  (4,326)  (19)  (4,408) 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 10,596 $ 626 $ 363,240 $ 7,689 $ 382,151 
Carrying amounts:           
  As at December 31, 2019 $ 31,820 $ 10 $ 473,428 $ 1,787 $ 507,045 
  As at December 31, 2020 $ 27,239 $ - $ 339,845 $ 1,080 $ 368,164 

 
Included in field equipment at December 31, 2020 were maintenance capital projects underway of $2.5 million (December 31, 
2019 - $9.9 million).  
 
For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized an impairment expense of $71.9 million related to buildings, 
field equipment and office equipment. See Note 7 for further discussion on the Company’s impairment tests.  
  



STEP ENERGY SERVICES   
 

  
 2020 Annual Financial Statements 

15 

NOTE 6 – RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES  
 

        Office    

    Buildings Vehicles equipment  Total  
  Reclassification of opening right-of-use assets    $ - $ 28,145 $ - $ 28,145 
  Accounting policy change     6,612  -  227  6,839 
  Additions    3,029  3,266  44  6,339 
  Disposals    (584)  (7,955)  -  (8,539) 
  Reclassification of assets held for sale    -  (365)  -  (365) 
  Effect of exchange rate changes    (55)  (643)  (1)  (699) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 9,002 $ 22,448 $ 270 $ 31,720 

  Additions    3,431  938  9  4,378 

  Disposals    (744)  (10,912)  -  (11,656) 

  Effect of exchange rate changes    (362)  (99)  (1)  (462) 

Balance at December 31, 2020    11,327  12,375  278  23,980 

           
Accumulated depreciation:           
  Reclassification of opening right-of-use assets    $ - $ 8,631 $ - $ 8,631 
  Depreciation    2,332  6,695  70  9,097 

  Disposals    (97)  (4,267)  -  (4,364) 

  Reclassification of assets held for sale    -  (139)  -  (139) 

  Effect of exchange rate changes    (10)  (288)  -  (298) 

Balance at December 31, 2019   $ 2,225 $ 10,632 $ 70 $ 12,927 
  Depreciation    2,931  4,385  74  7,390 

  Disposals    (705)  (6,904)  -  (7,609) 

  Effect of exchange rate changes    (63)  (115)  (3)  (181) 

Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 4,388 $ 7,998 $ 141 $ 12,527 
Carrying amounts:           
  As at December 31, 2019   $ 6,777 $ 11,816 $ 200 $ 18,793 
  As at December 31, 2020   $ 6,939 $ 4,377 $ 137 $ 11,453 

 
With respect to the right-of-use assets above, the Company has lease contracts for light duty vehicles, office buildings, service 
centers, and copiers. The maturity date of these contracts range from January 2021 to February 2026 with interest rates 
ranging from 2.68% to 12.14% per annum. Lease payments made by the Company are blended interest and principal payments. 
The Company’s lease obligations are as follows:  
 

As at   
December 31,  

2020  
December 31, 

2019 

Future minimum lease payments  $ 13,868 $ 20,394 
Discount  (1,151)  (1,373) 
Present value of minimum lease payments  $ 12,717 $ 19,021 
Presented as:     
 Current portion of lease obligations  $ 5,919 $ 9,569 
 Lease obligations $ 6,798 $ 9,452 
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NOTE 7 – IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT  
 
As required by IAS 36, the Company assesses at each reporting period whether there are any external and internal indicators 
of impairment. STEP has identified four cash generating units (“CGUs”) for purposes of impairment testing: Canadian Coiled 
Tubing, Canadian Fracturing, U.S. Coiled Tubing and U.S. Fracturing.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company assessed that despite improvements in the outlook for future periods there remains 
uncertainty as to the roll out of vaccines and the potential spread of new variants of COVID-19, and the related impact on 
demand for crude oil. The Company tested the Canadian and U.S. Fracturing CGUs and the US Coiled Tubing CGU.  The Canadian 
Coiled Tubing CGU was not tested as previous impairment tests in 2020 indicated significant excess recoverable amounts 
compared to the carrying amounts. 
 
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined using the value in use method, based on multi-year discounted 
cashflows to be generated from continuing operations.  Cash flow assumptions were based on a combination of expected 
future results, including management’s best estimates of asset utilization, pricing for available equipment, costs to maintain 
that equipment and a post-tax discount rate of 14.0% (pre-tax 18.1%).  Discount rates were calculated using the Company’s 
weighted-average cost of capital adjusted for uncertainties in forecasting.  A terminal growth rate of 2.0% was applied for all 
cash flows beyond 2025.   
 
A comparison of the recoverable amounts of the Canadian and U.S. Fracturing CGUs and the US Coiled Tubing CGU to the 
respective carrying values resulted in no additional impairment charges required.  A 1% increase in the discount rate would 
not result in any additional impairment. 
 
June 30, 2020 
 
As at June 30, 2020, the Company assessed that indicators of impairment identified at March 31, 2020 were still present as 
economic uncertainty continued for all of the Company’s CGUs. 
 
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined using the same methodology described above.  A post-tax discount 
rate of 14.75% (pre-tax 18.6%) was used for all CGUs.  Discount rates were calculated using the Company’s weighted average 
cost of capital adjusted for forecast risk. 
 
A comparison of the recoverable amounts of each CGU with their respective carrying amounts resulted in an impairment charge 
in the U.S. Fracturing CGU against property and equipment of $13.1 million. The recoverable amount for the U.S. Fracturing 
CGU was determined to be $126.4 million. A post-tax discount rate of 14.1.% (pre-tax 17.71%) would have caused the 
recoverable amount of the U.S. Fracturing CGU to be equal to the carrying value. A 1% increase in the discount rate would 
have resulted in an additional impairment charge of $17.1 million in the U.S. Fracturing CGU and impairment of $4.6 million in 
the Canadian Fracturing CGU. Increasing the discount rate by 1% would not have resulted in impairment for the Canadian 
Coiled Tubing CGU or U.S. Coiled Tubing CGU at June 30, 2020.  
 
March 31, 2020 
 
As at March 31, 2020, government and health authority responses to the COVID-19 global pandemic led to demand destruction 
for crude oil. OPEC+ crude oil production increases caused an oversupply of crude oil, at a time when demand was falling. The 
demand destruction and oversupply concerns caused a significant deterioration in economic conditions and increased 
economic uncertainty for the oil and gas industry. The combined impact of the two events materially reduced client spending 
and demand for STEP’s services. As a result, the Company performed an impairment test on its long-lived assets (non-financial 
assets) of all of the Company’s CGUs. 
 
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined using the same methodology described above.  A post-tax discount 
rate of 15.4% (pre-tax 18.8%) was used for all CGUs.  Discount rates were calculated using the Company’s weighted average 
cost of capital adjusted for forecast risk. 
 
A comparison of the recoverable amounts of each CGU with their respective carrying amounts resulted in an impairment charge 
in the Canadian Fracturing CGU against property and equipment of $58.8 million for the period ended March 31, 2020.  The 
recoverable amount of the Canadian Fracturing CGU was $168.0 million. A post-tax discount rate of 12.7% (pre-tax 15.8%) 
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would have caused the recoverable amount of the Canadian Fracturing CGU to be equal to the carrying value. A 1% increase 
in the discount rate would have resulted in an additional impairment charge of $16.1 million in the Canadian Fracturing CGU 
and impairment of $5.6 million in the U.S. Fracturing CGU. Increasing the discount rate by 1% would not have resulted in 
impairment for the Canadian Coiled Tubing CGU or U.S. Coiled Tubing CGU at March 31, 2020. 
 
Assumptions that are valid at the time of preparing the impairment test may change significantly when new information 
becomes available. The Company will continue to monitor and update its assumptions and estimates with respect to 
impairment on an ongoing basis. 

In addition to the Company’s impairment assessment, the Company identified a market decline in specific assets held for sale 
and wrote the assets down to their recoverable value during the second quarter of 2020 resulting in an impairment charge of 
$0.5 million (2019 - $13.7 million). During the third quarter of 2019, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge 
with respect to goodwill and intangibles of $113.5 million in its U.S. Fracturing CGU.  
 
NOTE 8 – LOANS AND BORROWINGS  
 
At December 31, 2020, the Company had a borrowing agreement with a syndicate of financial institutions. The Credit Facilities 
mature on June 25, 2022 and include a Canadian $215.0 million term facility, a Canadian $30.0 million revolving facility, a 
Canadian $10.0 million operating facility, and a U.S. $15.0 million operating facility. Any payments applied to the term facility 
may not be redrawn. The maturity date of the Credit Facilities may be extended for an additional period of up to three years 
with syndicate approval. The Credit Facilities include a general security agreement providing a security interest over all present 
and after acquired personal property of the Company and all its subsidiaries including mortgages on certain properties. Under 
the Credit Facilities, any current and future leases that would have been accounted for as an operating lease at December 31, 
2018 will continue to be recognized as operating leases for purposes of calculating financial covenants.  
 
Scheduled quarterly repayments of 3.25% of the term loan facility commence on March 31, 2022.  The balance is due on the 
maturity date. The sum of any amounts outstanding under the revolving facility, the Canadian operating facility and the U.S. 
operating facility may not exceed the Borrowing Base.  The Borrowing Base is defined as the aggregate of (1) 85% of U.S. and 
Canadian based investment grade eligible accounts receivable under 120 days from the invoice date, (2) 75% of U.S. and 
Canadian based non-investment grade eligible accounts receivable under 90 days from the invoice date and (3) 50% of U.S. 
and Canadian based eligible inventory subject to a maximum of $10 million Canadian less priority payables and certain liquidity 
requirements (see item five below). At December 31, 2020, the Company’s borrowing base is $49.3 million. Mandatory 
repayments are required anytime the amount outstanding under the revolving facility and Canadian and U.S. operating facilities 
exceeds the borrowing base. The Credit Facilities include certain financial and non-financial covenants, including:  
 
 

1. Funded Debt to Tangible Net Worth ratio refers to the ratio of total outstanding interest-bearing debt including lease 
obligations and letters of credit less cash and cash equivalents held with approved financial institutions to the sum of 
shareholders’ equity plus subordinated Debt, less all assets considered intangible (leasehold improvements, goodwill, 
intangibles etc.).  The Company is required to meet the following Funded Debt to Tangible Net Worth ratios:  

 

Quarters Ended 
Required funded debt to 
tangible net worth ratio 

December 31, 2020  1.25:1 or less 
March 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021 1.50:1 or less 
September 30, 2021 1.75:1 or less 

 
December 31, 2020, the Funded Debt to Tangible Net Worth ratio was 1.05:1. 
 

2. A Minimum quarterly Adjusted Bank EBITDA covenant.  Adjusted bank EBITDA means, the Net Income (Loss) on a 
consolidated basis plus or minus:  interest expense, the provision for income taxes, depreciation, amortization, 
deferred income tax assets or liabilities, gains or losses on the sale of assets, allowance for doubtful account 
provisions, non-cash impairment charges, unrealized foreign exchange gains or losses and marking to market hedging 
instruments, discretionary management bonuses, severance and share based compensation. Lease expense for 
current and future finance leases, which would have been accounted for as an operating lease at December 31, 2018, 
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is deducted from net income (loss) when calculating Adjusted Bank EBITDA. The Company is required to meet the 
following Adjusted bank EBITDA: 

 
Quarters Ended Minimum quarterly EBITDA 
December 31, 2020 $ (3,940) 
March 31, 2021   (3,310) 
June 30, 2021     (3,401) 
September 30, 2021         6,858 

 
December 31, 2020, minimum quarterly Adjusted Bank EBITDA was $4,422. 
 

3. Interest Coverage Ratio refers to the ratio of Adjusted Bank EBITDA to Interest Expense for the preceding twelve 
months. Interest expense includes interest charges, capitalized interest, interest on lease obligations, fees payable in 
respect of letters of credit and letters of guarantee, and discounts incurred and fees payable in respect of bankers’ 
acceptance and LIBOR advances. Interest on lease obligations for current and future leases, which would have been 
accounted for as an operating lease on December 31, 2018 is not included in interest expense for purposes of 
calculating financial covenants. The Company is required to meet the following Interest coverage ratios:  
 

Quarters Ended Required interest coverage ratio 
December 31, 2020 1.00:1 or greater 
March 31, 2021  Waived 
June 30, 2021 Waived  
September 30, 2021 Waived  
December 31, 2021 3.00:1 or greater 

 
December 31, 2020 the interest coverage ratio was 2.70:1.  
 

4. Funded Debt to Adjusted Bank EBITDA ratio refers to total outstanding interest-bearing debt including lease 
obligations and letters of credit less cash and cash equivalents held with approved financial institutions to Adjusted 
Bank EBITDA.  Adjusted Bank EBITDA means the Net Income (Loss) on a consolidated basis plus or minus:  interest 
expense, the provision for income taxes, depreciation, amortization, deferred income tax assets or liabilities, gains or 
losses on the sale of assets, allowance for doubtful account provisions, non-cash impairment charges, unrealized 
foreign exchange gains or losses and marking to market hedging instruments, discretionary management bonuses, 
severance and share based compensation. Lease expense for current and future finance leases, which would have 
been accounted for as an operating lease at December 31, 2018, is deducted from net income (loss) when calculating 
Adjusted Bank EBITDA. The ratio is calculated quarterly on the last day of each fiscal quarter on a four-quarter rolling 
basis. 

 
Quarters Ended Required funded debt to adjusted EBITDA ratio 
December 31, 2020 Waived 
March 31, 2021 Waived 
June 30, 2021  Waived 
September 30, 2021 Waived  
December 31, 2021 is not more than 4.50:1 
March 31, 2022 and thereafter is not more than 3.00:1 

 
5. Minimum Liquidity Availability means the Company must ensure on a consolidated monthly basis Liquidity Availability 

of $7.5 million or greater.  Liquidity Availability means the applicable Borrowing Base minus the sum of: (a) all 
outstanding accommodations under the revolving facility and the operating facilities; and (b) all interest, fees, 
expenses, and other amounts due and payable under the Credit Facilities. The liquidity availability was $49.0 million 
at December 31, 2020. 

 
The Company complied with all financial and non-financial covenants under its Credit Facilities December 31, 2020. 
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Interest is payable monthly, at the lead syndicate bank’s prime lending rate plus 200 basis points to 500 basis points depending 
on certain financial ratios of the Company. The effective borrowing rate for loans and borrowings for the year ended December 
31, 2020 was 4.84%. The Company has total outstanding letters of credit of $0.2 million. The total amount of Credit Facilities 
outstanding on December 31, 2020 is as follows:  
 

As at  
December 31, 

2020  
December 31, 

2019 
Credit facilities (term facility) $ 210,001 $ 239,819 
Deferred financing costs  (2,371)  (2,401) 
Loans and borrowings  $ 207,630 $ 237,418 

 
The following table displays the movements in loans and borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2020: 
 

     

Balance at January 1, 2020   $ 237,418 
Repayment of loans and borrowings     (30,409) 
Deferred financing incurred    (1,418) 
Accretion of deferred financing costs    1,448 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss     591 
Balance at December 31, 2020   $ 207,630 

 
STEP is expecting compliance with the financial covenants applicable to our Credit Facilities for at least the next twelve months.  
A decrease or sustained period of materially reduced client spending and demand for STEP’s services may result in non-
compliance with our financial covenants and reduced liquidity related to changes in our Credit Facilities.  Non-compliance with 
the financial covenants in our Credit Facilities could result in our debt becoming due and payable on demand.  Should we 
anticipate non-compliance we will proactively approach our lending syndicate to amend the Credit Facilities to ensure their 
availability.  There is no certainty that we will be successful in negotiating such amendments. 

Subsequent Event 

Subsequent to December 31, 2020, the following amendments were made to STEP’s credit facility: 
• Minimum EBITDA for first quarter 2021 was changed to $10,000, second quarter 2021 was changed to nil and third 

quarter 2021 remained at $6,858. 
• For the fourth quarter of 2021 the covenants have been amended as follows: 

o Funded Debt to EBITDA covenant will be no greater than 4.5:1, and  
o Funded Debt to Tangible Net Worth covenant and the Minimum EBITDA covenant will be waived.  

• The negative covenant for capital expenditures will be increased to $33.7 million. 
 
NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS 
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s estimated commitments that are not included in the consolidated statement 
of financial position related to leases as at December 31, 2020 for the following five years and thereafter: 
 

  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025 Thereafter  Total 
Operating expenses for lease obligations(1) $ 1,458 $ 1,409 $ 1,403 $ 341 $ 279 $ 45 $ 4,935 
Short term and low value lease obligations(1)  129  -  -  -  -  -  129 

Total commitments $ 1,587 $ 1,409 $ 1,403 $ 341 $ 279 $ 45 $ 5,064 
 1) Includes U.S. obligations at an estimated forecast exchange rate of 1 USD = 1.32 CAD. 

Operating expenses related to lease obligations relate to leases of certain service centers and office space with lease terms of 
between 1 year and 6 years. The total expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020 for short term and low 
value lease obligations was $1.6 million.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has $2.9 million (December 31, 2019 - $0.9 million) of commitments related to capital 
expenditures. These commitments are expected to be incurred in fiscal 2021. 
NOTE 10 – SHARE CAPITAL  
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The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares. The shares have no par value. All issued shares 
are fully paid. 
 

 Shares #  Amount 

Balance at January 1, 2019 66,682,319 $ 426,494 
Issued – exercise of share-based instruments 260,511  2,323 
Balance at December 31, 2019 66,942,830  428,817 
Issued – exercise of share-based instruments 770,994  2,981 

Balance at December 31, 2020 67,713,824 $ 431,798 
 
NOTE 11 – SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

Prior to the initial public offering (“IPO”), the Company’s share-based compensation plans for employees and directors 
consisted of prior stock options and performance warrants. The Company has since implemented new share-based 
compensation plans following the IPO including a new stock option plan (the ”New Stock Option Plan”), a performance and 
restricted share unit plan (the “PRSU Plan”), a cash-settled deferred share unit plan (the “DSU Plan”), and a cash-settled 
Phantom Long-Term Incentive Plan (“The Phantom PRSU Plan”).  Effective May 2, 2017, no further awards under the prior 
stock option plan or performance warrants may be granted.  

Equity Settled Share-Based Instruments 

The maximum number of common shares issuable under the New Stock Option Plan and all other share-based compensation 
arrangements (excluding the prior options and performance warrants) must not exceed 9.5% of the aggregate of the number 
of outstanding common shares. The following table summarizes the Company's outstanding equity settled share-based 
compensation instruments: 
 

 

New stock 
options 

Restricted 
share units 

Performance 
share units 

   Prior stock 
options 

Performance 
warrants Total 

Balance at January 1, 2019 201,987 770,574 505,316 3,749,728 8,160,788 13,388,393 
Granted 1,971,489 - - - - 1,971,489 
Cancelled via performance factor - - (13,129) - - (13,129) 
Exercised - (237,648) (23,018) - - (260,666) 
Forfeited/Expired (51,716) (137,955) - (217,219) (660,660) (1,067,550) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 2,121,760 394,971 469,169 3,532,509 7,500,128 14,018,537 

Exercisable at December 31, 2019 67,329 - - 3,513,380 5,944,918 9,525,627 
 

 

New stock 
options 

Restricted 
share units 

Performance 
share units 

   Prior stock 
options 

Performance 
warrants Total 

Balance at January 1, 2020 2,121,760 394,971 469,169 3,532,509 7,500,128 14,018,537 
Granted 1,696,800 - - - - 1,696,800 
Exercised - (170,610) (106,228) - - (276,838) 
Forfeited/Expired (242,459) (104,839) (14,960) (1,728,064) (4,576,156) (6,666,478) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 3,576,101 119,522 347,981 1,804,445 2,923,972 8,772,021 

Exercisable at December 31, 2020 717,008 - 75,771 1,804,445 2,400,232 4,997,456 
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New stock options 
New stock options may be granted at the discretion of the Board of Directors and all officers and employees of the Company 
are eligible for participation in the New Stock Option Plan. The option price is equal to the volume-weighted-average closing 
price of the Company’s shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange, for the five trading days preceding the date of grant. Grants 
vest in three equal portions on the first, second and third anniversary of the grant date and have a maximum life of five years, 
or as otherwise set out by the Board in the applicable grant agreement.  
 
 

 2020 2019 

 
New stock 

options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price  
New stock 

options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,121,760 $ 2.45 201,987 $ 5.70 

Granted 1,696,800  0.42 1,971,489  2.11 

Forfeited / Expired (242,459)  1.74 (51,716)  2.14 

Outstanding at end of year 3,576,101 $ 1.54 2,121,760 $ 2.45 

Exercisable at end of year 717,008 $ 2.79 67,329 $ 5.70 
 

As at December 31, 2020 New stock options Outstanding New stock options Exercisable 

Exercise price 
Number 

outstanding 

Weighted 
average 

remaining life 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 
Number 

exercisable 

Weighted  
average 

exercisable price 

$0.42-$0.97 1,651,900 4.25 $ 0.42 - $ -  

$0.98-$1.83 53,833 3.62  1.51 17,943  1.51  

$1.84-$3.92 1,668,381 3.26  2.14 564,407  2.14 

$3.93-$5.70 201,987 2.75  5.70 134,658  5.70 

 3,576,101 3.69 $ 1.54 717,008 $ 2.80 
 
Restricted share units 
The Board grants restricted share units (“RSUs”) to its employees. RSUs granted under the PRSU Plan provide the holder a right 
to receive a common share for each whole vested share unit. The RSUs awarded will vest in three equal portions on the first, 
second and third anniversary of the grant date and will be settled in shares of the Company on those vesting dates. The fair 
value of the RSU is recognized over the expected life and is based on volume-weighted-average closing price of the Company’s 
shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange, for the five trading days preceding the date of grant. When RSUs are exercised, the 
compensation expense previously recorded in contributed surplus is added to share capital. For RSUs exercised in the year, the 
weighted average share price on exercise date was $0.41/share. No equity-settled RSUs were granted in 2020. The weighted 
average remaining life of RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2020 is 0.6 years.  
 
Performance share units 
The Board grants performance share units (“PSUs”) to eligible employees and executives. PSUs granted under the PRSU Plan 
provide the holder a right to receive a common share for each whole vested share unit. The number of units that vest is based 
on the achievement of performance measures as specified by the Board of Directors.   The Board of Directors assesses 
performance of the Company to determine the vesting percentage, which can range from 0 percent to 200 percent. Corporate 
PSUs vest at the end of three years, while instruments granted to the business unit senior officers vest in three equal portions 
on the first, second and third anniversary of the grant date. The PSU fair value approximates the volume-weighted-average 
closing price of the Company’s shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange, for the five trading days preceding the date of grant. 
When PSUs are exercised, the compensation expense previously recorded in contributed surplus is added to share capital. For 
PSUs exercised in the year, the weighted average share price on exercise date was $0.61/share. No equity-settled PSUs were 
granted in 2020. The weighted average remaining life of PSUs outstanding at December 31, 2020 is 0.3 years. 
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Fair Value Assumptions for Share-based Compensation 

The Company uses the Black-Scholes pricing model to calculate the fair value of equity settled share-based compensation 
instruments. Regarding PSUs and RSUs, the estimated fair value per unit approximates the five day weighted average share 
price on grant date. The Company estimates volatility using the Company’s historical share prices and peer information. 
Estimated fair values for the new stock options granted in the year were calculated using the following weighted average 
assumptions: 
 

 New stock options 

For the year ended December 31, 2020  2019 

Risk-free interest rate (%)  0.41 1.13-1.53 

Expected life (years)  5.00 5.00 

Expected forfeiture rate (%) 13.81 9.13-9.19 

Expected dividend rate (%)  0.00 0.00 

Expected volatility (%) 75.02 65.47-65.87 
 
Prior stock options 
Grants under the prior stock option plan are exercisable for common shares, vest over a period of three years and have a 
maximum life of five or seven years, or as otherwise set out by the Board in the applicable grant agreement or amendment. 
Effective May 2, 2017, no further awards under the prior stock option plan may be granted.  When prior stock options are 
exercised, the compensation expense previously recorded in contributed surplus is added to share capital.  
 

 2020 2019 

 
Prior stock 

options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price  
Prior stock 

options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,532,509 $ 5.47 3,749,728 $ 5.50 

Forfeited / Expired (1,728,064)  5.69 (217,219)  6.09 

Outstanding at end of year 1,804,445 $ 5.25 3,532,509 $ 5.47 

Exercisable at end of year 1,804,445 $ 5.25 3,513,380 $ 5.44 
 

As at December 31, 2020 Prior stock options outstanding and exercisable 

Exercise price   
Number 

outstanding 

Weighted 
average 

remaining life 

Weighted 
average exercise 

price 

$5.00-$5.63    1,588,045 0.84 $ 5.00 

$5.64-$8.13    168,000 1.40  6.25 

$8.13-$10.00    48,400 1.07  10.00 

    1,804,445 0.90 $ 5.25 
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Performance warrants 
Grants under the performance warrant plan are exercisable for common shares, vest over a period of five years and have a 
maximum life of five or seven years, or as otherwise set out by the Board in the applicable grant agreement or amendment. 
Effective May 2, 2017, no further awards under the performance warrant plan may be granted.  When performance warrants 
are exercised, the compensation expense previously recorded in contributed surplus is added to share capital.  
 

 2020 2019 

 
Performance 

warrants 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price  
Performance 

warrants 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

Outstanding at beginning of year 7,500,128 $ 10.99 8,160,788 $ 11.00 
Forfeited / Expired (4,576,156)  10.66 (660,660)  11.16 

Outstanding at end of year 2,923,972 $ 11.51 7,500,128 $ 10.99 

Exercisable at end of year 2,400,232 $ 11.51 5,944,918 $ 10.86 
 

As at December 31, 2020 Performance warrants outstanding 
Performance warrants 

exercisable 

Exercise price 
Number 

outstanding 

Weighted 
average 

remaining life 
Weighted average 

exercise price 
Number 

exercisable 

Weighted  
average 

exercisable 
price 

$7.50-$9.07 497,300 0.87 $ 8.12 400,296 $ 8.13 
$9.08-$10.48 564,500 0.91  9.66 467,496  9.66 

$10.49-$12.00 584,052 0.92  11.10 479,304  11.09 
$12.01-$13.53 586,012 0.92  12.52 481,264  12.51 
$13.54-$17.50 692,108 0.97  14.95 571,872  14.92 

 2,923,972 0.92 $ 11.51 2,400,232 $ 11.51 
 

Cash Settled Share-based Instruments 

The Company has cash-settled long-term incentive plans (“the Phantom PRSU Plan”) for its employees and executives as well 
as a deferred share unit (DSU) plan for its directors. 
 

   
Deferred 

share units 
Cash-settled 

RSUs 
Cash-settled 

PSUs Total 

Balance at January 1, 2019   137,634 - - 137,634 
Granted   424,005 2,527,497 847,379 3,798,881 
Exercised   (14,689) - - (14,689) 
Forfeited/Expired   - (221,646) - (221,646) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019   546,950 2,305,851 847,379 3,700,180 

Exercisable at December 31, 2019   - - - - 

 

   
Deferred 

share units 
Cash-settled 

RSUs 
Cash-settled 

PSUs Total 
Balance at January 1, 2020   546,950 2,305,851 847,379 3,700,180 
Granted   1,856,860 954,133 736,500 3,547,493 
Added by performance factor   - - 19,294 19,294 
Exercised   - (571,076) (20,151) (591,227) 
Forfeited/Expired   - (785,070) (80,106) (865,176) 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020   2,403,810 1,903,838 1,502,916 5,810,564 

Exercisable at December 31, 2020   - - - - 
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Deferred share units  
Deferred Share Units awarded vest immediately and will be settled in cash in the amount equal to the closing price of the 
Company’s common shares on the day before the Company elects to pay. The Company may elect to pay the DSUs at any point 
after the resignation is received from the Board member and before the last business day of the following year.  Since the DSUs 
vest immediately, the fair value of the liability and the corresponding expense is charged to net loss at the grant date. The 
weighted average fair value for DSUs granted in 2020 was $0.43 per unit. Subsequently, at each reporting date between grant 
date and settlement date, the fair value of the liability is re-measured with any changes in fair value recognized in net loss and 
other comprehensive loss for the period.   
 
Cash-settled restricted share units 
The Board grants cash-settled restricted share units (“Cash-settled RSUs”) to its employees under the Phantom PRSU Plan. 
Cash-settled RSUs granted under the Phantom PRSU Plan provide the holder a right to receive the cash equivalent of one 
common share for each vested RSU. The Cash-settled RSUs awarded will vest in three equal portions on the first, second and 
third anniversary of the grant date and will be settled in cash on those vesting dates. The weighted average fair value for RSUs 
granted in 2020 was $0.71 per unit. Cash-settled RSU liabilities are re-measured at each reporting period to the period end 
share price until they are fully vested. Any changes in fair value are recognized in net loss and other comprehensive loss for 
the period. The weighted average remaining life of cash-settled RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2020 is 1.9 years.  
 
Cash-settled performance share units 
The Board grants cash-settled performance share units (“Cash-settled PSUs”) to eligible employees and executives under the 
Company’s Phantom PRSU Plan. Cash-settled PSUs granted under the Phantom PRSU Plan provide the holder a right to receive 
the cash equivalent of a common share for each vested Cash-settled PSU.  The number of units that vest is based on the 
achievement of performance measures as specified by the Board.  The Board assesses performance of the Company to 
determine the vesting percentage, which can range from 0 percent to 200 percent. Corporate Cash-settled PSUs vest at the 
end of three years, while instruments granted to the business unit senior officers vest in three equal portions on the first, 
second and third anniversary of the grant date. The weighted average fair value for PSUs granted in 2020 was $0.72 per unit. 
Cash-settled PSU liabilities are re-measured at each reporting period to the period end share price until they are fully vested. 
Any changes in fair value are recognized in net loss and other comprehensive loss for the period. The weighted average 
remaining life of cash-settled PSUs outstanding is 1.8 years.  
 
The aggregate liability for all cash settled share-based instruments of $2.6 million is included in the statement of financial 
position in trade and other payables and other liabilities. Cash-settled instruments are excluded from earnings per share 
calculations as they are cash settled. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, 0.5 million cash settled RSUs and PSUs were settled through the issuance of 0.5 
million common shares at fair value. As a result, there was an increase in share capital related to the settlement of the cash 
settled RSUs and PSUs of $0.2 million.  
 

Share-based Compensation Expense 

The composition of share-based compensation expense incurred was:  
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Prior stock options $ 4 $ 320 
New stock options  1,021  1,091 
Performance warrants  686  612 
Performance share units  849  1,000 
Restricted share units  362  2,051 
Cash-settled deferred share units  919  605 
Cash-settled performance share units  55  134 
Cash-settled restricted share units   (286)  1,185 
Total share-based compensation expense $ 3,610 $ 6,998 
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NOTE 12 – PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS 
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - basic   67,321,951  66,763,210 
Dilutive impact of share-based compensation instruments   -  - 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - diluted  67,321,951  66,763,210 

 
As at December 31, 2020, 1.8 million prior stock options, 2.9 million performance warrants, 3.6 million new stock options, 0.1 
million restricted share units, and 0.3 million performance share units were excluded from the diluted weighted average 
number of shares calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive (December 31, 2019: 3.5 million prior stock options, 
7.5 million performance warrants, 2.1 million new stock options, 0.4 million restricted share units, and 0.5 million performance 
share units).  
 
NOTE 13 – PRESENTATION OF EXPENSES  
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Operating expenses     
   Employee costs(1) $ 101,113 $ 197,897 
   Operating expense(2)  96,401  160,003 
   Materials and inventory costs  116,967  200,794 

  314,481  558,694 
   Depreciation   87,257  99,898 
   Share-based compensation  617  3,008 
 Total operating expenses $ 402,355 $ 661,600 
     
Selling, general and administrative expenses     
   Employee costs(1) $ 12,594 $ 20,437 
   General expenses   7,539  9,292 

  20,133  29,729 
   Allowance for doubtful accounts expense (recovery)  3,450  1,065 
   Depreciation   1,128  1,639 
   Share-based compensation  2,993  3,990 
Total selling, general and administrative expenses  $ 27,704 $ 36,423 

1)   Employee expenses are net of CEWS issued.  See Note 3 – Government Grants.  
2)   Employee expenses are net of CERS issued.  See Note 3 – Government Grants.  

 

NOTE 14 – EMPLOYEE EXPENSES  
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 

Salaries and short-term benefits  $ 109,637 $ 214,978 
Post-employment benefits   165  1,909 
Share-based compensation  3,610  6,998 
Termination benefits   3,905  1,447 
Total employee expenses  $ 117,317 $ 225,332 
Included in:     
   Operating expenses  $ 101,730 $ 200,905 
   Selling, general and administrative  15,587  24,427 

Total employee expenses $ 117,317 $ 225,332 
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NOTE 15 – FINANCE COSTS 
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Interest on loans and borrowings $ 12,020 $ 13,132 
Interest on lease obligations  908  1,140 
Interest income  -  (29) 
Accretion of deferred financing charges  1,448  1,250 
Other  287  128 
Total finance costs $ 14,663 $ 15,621 

 
NOTE 16 – INCOME TAXES  

Income Tax Expense 

The components of income tax expense (recovery) are: 
 
Current tax expense (recovery) 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Current year tax expense (recovery) $ (1,590) $ (9,288) 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  609  (848) 
Current tax expense (recovery) $ (981) $ (10,136) 

 
Deferred tax expense (recovery) 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences $ (25,452) $ (15,272) 
Change in income tax rate  169  (5,670) 
Adjustment in respect of prior years  279  (147) 
Deferred tax expense (recovery) $ (25,004) $ (21,089) 

 
The provision for income taxes in the consolidated statement of net loss and other comprehensive loss varies from the amount 
that would be computed by applying the combined Federal and Provincial income tax rates of 24.0% (2019 – 26.5%) to net 
income or loss before income tax.    
 
On December 9, 2020 the Alberta provincial government enacted corporate income tax rate reductions of 2% retroactive to 
July 1, 2020. As a result, the current rate was reduced from 10.0% to 8.0%. The rate reduction was previously enacted to drop 
gradually to this rate by January 1, 2022. With a mid-2020 year rate reduction the combined current rate is presented as 24.0% 
(9.0% AB + 15.0% Federal). 
 
The reasons for the differences between the expected income tax expense (recovery) and the amounts recorded are: 
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 
Loss before income tax  $ (145,343) $ (175,108) 
Income tax rate %  24.0%  26.5% 
Computed expected income tax expense   (34,882)  (46,404) 
Increase (decrease) in income taxes resulting from:     
   Non-deductible interest   10,820  - 
   Goodwill impairment  -  19,060 
   Change in income tax rate  169  (5,670) 
   Foreign income tax rate differentials  (4,264)  2,163 
   Share-based compensation   711  1,348 
   Other rate effects   723  (628) 
   Other permanent differences  (149)  (99) 
   Adjustment in respect of prior years  887  (995) 
 Total income tax expense (recovery) $ (25,985) $ (31,225) 
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Deferred Tax Balances 

The following table summarizes the income tax impact of temporary differences that give rise to the deferred tax liability: 
 

As at December 31,  2020  2019 
Tax losses $ 37,389 $ 33,382 
Property and equipment  (49,044)  (73,305) 
Intangible assets  (118)  (228) 
Obligation under capital lease  2,614  3,674 
Deferred financing  1,015  1,440 
Reserves  3,033  775 
Other  1,281  5,247 
Deferred tax (liability) net $ (3,830) $ (29,015) 
Deferred tax (liability) asset by jurisdiction:     
   Canada $ (609) $ (19,325) 
   United States  (3,221)  (9,690) 
 Deferred tax (liability) net $ (3,830) $ (29,015) 

 
Changes in net deferred income tax balances during the year: 
 

  Tax Property and Intangible Capital lease  Deferred       

  losses equipment assets obligation financing  Reserves  Other  Total  

Balance at January 1, 2019 $ 26,750 $ (78,702) $ (7,958) $ 2,692 $ 2,261 $ 834 $ 2,410 $ (51,713) 

Impact of change in accounting policy  79  -  -  -  -  -  -  79 

Recognized in profit or loss  6,138  5,176  7,345  923  (821)  (44)  2,372  21,089 

Recognized in equity  415  221  385  59     -  (15)  154  1,219 

Other  -  -  -  -  -  -  311  311 

Balance at December 31, 2019  33,382  (73,305)  (228)  3,674  1,440  775  5,247  (29,015) 

Recognized in profit or loss  4,006  24,011  107  (1,068)  (425)  2,222  (3,849)  25,004 

Recognized in equity  1  250  3  8  -  36  (117)  181 

Other  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 37,389 $ (49,044) $ (118) $ 2,614 $ 1,015 $ 3,033 $ 1,281 $ (3,830) 
 

As at December 31, 2020, the Company has tax assets that relate to $148.1 million of non-capital losses in the United States 
and $19.8 million in Canada (2019 –$153.3 million in the United States, nil in Canada). The Company recognizes losses to the 
extent they are expected to be deductible. The non-capital losses in the United States expire beginning in 2035. The non-capital 
losses in Canada expire in 2040. The Company recognizes losses to the extent they are expected to be deductible.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has unrecognized net capital loss carry forwards totaling $198.5 million in Canada 
(2019 - nil). These net capital loss carry forwards are unrecognized. While these net capital losses do not expire they are only 
realizable against future net capital gains in Canada. At the current time the Company does not anticipate capital gains in excess 
of these unrecognized net capital losses.  
 

NOTE 17 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Accounting Classifications and Fair Values 

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, and loans and borrowings are initially 
recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade 
and other receivables, and trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to the relatively short periods to maturity 
of the instruments. Loans and borrowings utilize floating rates and therefore fair market value approximates carrying value. 
The Company classifies its financial instruments measured at fair value according to the following hierarchy based on the 
amount of observable inputs used to value the instrument. Assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value 
measurement requires judgment and may affect the placement within the fair value hierarchy. 
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• Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and 
• Level 3 - Inputs that are not based on observable market data. 

 
Foreign exchange forward contracts are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair value are 
recognized as they arise and are determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the reporting date (level 2). During the 
year ended December 31, 2020, there were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy.  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial asset will not discharge its obligations, resulting in a financial loss to the 
Company. The majority of the Company’s accounts receivable are with clients in the oil and natural gas industry and are subject 
to normal industry credit risks that include fluctuations in oil and natural gas prices and the ability to secure adequate debt or 
equity financing. During the twelve months ended December 31, 2020, global events have, and are expected to continue to 
have a significant impact on client credit risk (see Note 1 – COVID 19 and Liquidity). These factors have been incorporated in 
the Company’s assessment of expected credit losses at December 31, 2020. The Company’s clients are subject to an internal 
credit review, together with ongoing monitoring of the amount and age of balances in order to minimize the risk of non-
payment. The carrying amount of accounts receivable reflects the maximum credit exposure on this balance and 
management’s assessment of the credit risk associated with its clients. 
 
The Company measures potential loss exposures on trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. At every 
point after the initial recognition, there is at least some risk of default.  To assess this risk, the Company considers quantitative 
and qualitative information based on the Company’s historical experience and forward-looking information. Factors considered 
include customer payment history, customer credit ratings, customer cash flows, industry trends, and commodity pricing 
forecasts. The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset increases significantly the longer it is outstanding. The 
Company had no write-offs of allowance for doubtful accounts during the year.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, five clients represented 51% of revenue (December 2019 – 48% of revenue). These 
top five clients contribute 22%, 8%, 8%, 7%, and 6% of revenue respectively, four of which are operated in the Canadian 
segment and one in the U.S.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, 15% of trade receivables are held with one client within the U.S. Segment and 20% is held within 
two clients in the Canadian segment (December 31, 2019 – 18% in the U.S. Segment and 13% in the Canadian Segment). As 
such, the Company is exposed to concentration of credit risk (December 31, 2019 – 18% of trade receivables within the 
Canadian segment). As at December 31, 2020, 51% of the total accounts receivable balance was due from five clients 
(December 31, 2019 – 48%).  
 
The Company’s aged trade and other receivables are as follows: 
 

As at December 31,  2020  2019 

Current (0 to 30 days from invoice date) $ 28,879 $ 63,698 

31 - 60 days  25,154  21,585 

61 - 90 days  5,211  12,442 

91+ days  6,609  9,297 

Receivables from trade clients  65,853  107,022 

  Allowance for doubtful accounts  (6,707)  (3,633) 
  Other amounts  4,325  1,334 
Total trade and other receivables $ 63,471 $ 104,723 

 
The Company’s objective is to minimize credit losses.  
 
The Company held cash and cash equivalents of $1.3 million as at December 31, 2020 (December 31, 2019 - $7.3 million), 
which represents its maximum credit exposure on these assets. The cash and cash equivalents are held with major banks and 
financial institution counterparties (level 1).   
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Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely basis or at a reasonable cost. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient available resources to meet its liquidity requirements at 
any point. The Company achieves this by managing its capital spending and maintaining sufficient funds for anticipated short-
term spending in the cash and cash equivalents account. See Note 9 for commitments.  
 
The expected timing of cash outflows relating to financial liabilities on the statement of financial position as at December 31, 
2020 are: 

  2021  2022  2023  2024  2025 Thereafter  Total 

Lease obligations(1) $ 6,644 $ 3,164 $ 2,153 $ 1,363 $ 544 $ - $ 13,868 
Trade and other payables  50,595  -  -  -  -  -  50,595 
Income tax payable  88  -  -  -  -  -  88 
Loans and borrowings(2)  9,513  214,588  -  -  -  -  224,101 

 $ 66,840 $ 217,752 $ 2,153 $ 1,363 $ 544 $ - $ 288,652 
1) Includes interest portion of lease obligations.  
2) Includes estimated interest and principal repayments, based on current amounts outstanding and current interest rates at December 31, 2020. Both 

are variable in nature.  

The Company anticipates that its cash on hand, trade accounts receivable and cash provided by operating activities, will be 
adequate to satisfy its liquidity requirements over the next twelve months.  Total cash, trade and other receivables and income 
tax receivable exceeds the obligations in the table above as well as operating and capital commitments.  
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company has not drawn on its operating facility and continues to undertake steps to reduce 
overall spend. Reductions in clients’ cash flow or difficulty in their ability to source debt or equity also could negatively impact 
the Company’s assessment of liquidity risk (see Note 1 – COVID- 19 and Liquidity). 
 

Market Risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial assets or liabilities will fluctuate due to movements in 
market rates. Market risk is comprised of interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risks which consist primarily of 
fluctuations in commodity prices. 
 
Interest rate risk  
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on its floating rate bank indebtedness. Based on the average outstanding debt for 
the year a 1.0% change in the bankers’ prime rate would result in a $2.3 million increase or decrease in interest expense for 
the year ended December 31, 2020 (2019 - $2.6 million).  
 
Foreign currency risk 
As the Company operates in both Canada and the U.S., fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the 
Canadian dollar can have an impact on the operating results and the future cash flows of the Company’s financial assets and 
liabilities. The Canadian segment is exposed to foreign exchange risk on U.S. dollar denominated purchases made in the normal 
course of business and debt held in U.S. dollars. The Company manages risk to foreign currency exposure by monitoring 
financial assets and liabilities denominated in U.S. dollars and exchange rates on an ongoing basis. 
 
Fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies on financial instruments denominated in U.S. dollars as at December 31, 2020 
would have had the following impact on net loss and other comprehensive loss:  

 Impact on Net Loss 
Impact on Other 

Comprehensive Loss 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019  2020  2019 

 1% change in the value of the U.S. dollar $ 474 $ 1,300 $ 2,440 $ 2,924 
 
As at December 31, 2020, the Company did not have any open foreign exchange contracts.  
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NOTE 18 – CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
The Company’s objectives when managing its capital structure are to maintain a balance between debt and equity so as to 
withstand industry and seasonal volatility, maintain investor, creditor, and market confidence, and to sustain future 
development of the business. The Company considers the items included in shareholders’ equity, loans and borrowings and 
leases as capital. Debt includes the current and long-term portions of bank indebtedness and obligations under leases.   
 

As at December 31,   
 

 2020  2019  
Shareholders' equity $ 204,579 48% $ 322,823 56% 
Lease obligations  12,717 3%  19,021 3% 
Loans and borrowings  207,630 49%  237,418 41% 

Total capitalization $ 424,926  $ 579,262   
 

The Company is subject to various financial and non-financial covenants, which are monitored on a regular basis and controls 
are in place to maintain compliance with these covenants (Note 8).  The Company is in compliance with all financial and non-
financial covenants.  
 

NOTE 19 - CONTINGENCIES AND PROVISIONS 

Litigation  

Periodically, the Company may become involved in, named as a party to, or be the subject of various legal proceedings which 
are usually related to normal operational or labor issues. The results of such legal proceedings or related matters cannot be 
determined with certainty. The Company’s assessment of the likely outcome of such matters is based on input from internal 
examination of the facts of the case and advice from external legal advisors, which is based on their judgment of a number of 
factors including the applicable legal framework and precedents, relevant financial and operational information, and other 
evidence and facts specific to the matter as known at the time of the assessment. The Company makes any appropriate 
provisions based on such assessments. 
 
In January 2017, Calfrac Well Services Ltd. (“Calfrac”) filed a statement of claim in the Judicial District of Calgary in the Court of 
Queen’s Bench against the Company and an employee of the Company seeking $10.0 million in damages among other relief. 
Calfrac alleges that the employee, who is a former employee of Calfrac, misappropriated certain competitively sensitive 
materials from Calfrac. Calfrac further alleges that STEP benefited or made use of such materials, resulting in damages to 
Calfrac. STEP is presently investigating the claim and will be filing a statement of defence to contest allegations made in the 
claim. While management does not believe that this action will have a material adverse effect on the business or financial 
condition of the Company, no assurance can be given as to the final outcome of this or any other legal proceeding. If this claim, 
or any claims to which the Company may be subject in the future, were to be concluded in a manner adverse to the Company 
or if the Company elects to settle one or more of such claims, it could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. 
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NOTE 20 – OPERATING SEGMENTS  

The Company’s services are conducted by the Canadian Operations and the U.S. Operations segments. The results of each 
operating segment are summarized below. Transactions between the segments are recorded at fair value and have been 
eliminated upon consolidation. 

Segmented Operating Results and Activity 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2020 

Canadian  
Operations 

U.S.  
Operations Corporate Total 

  Revenue         
    Fracturing $ 144,564 $ 111,000 $ - $ 255,564 
    Coiled tubing  63,896  49,485  -  113,381 
    Total revenue  208,460  160,485  -  368,945 
  Expenses          
    Operating expenses  204,583  196,670  1,102  402,355 
    Selling, general and administrative  5,116  6,954  15,634  27,704 
  Results from operating activities  (1,239)  (43,139)  (16,736)  (61,114) 
    Finance costs  -  -  14,663  14,663 
    Foreign exchange (gain) loss  465  (22)  -  443 
    (Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment  (2,574)  (1,203)  -  (3,777) 
    Amortization of intangible assets  39  516  -  555 
    Impairment   59,245  13,100  -  72,345 
  Income (loss) before income tax  $ (58,414) $ (55,530) $ (31,399) $ (145,343) 
         
  Capital expenditures (1) $ 9,457 $ 12,747 $ - $ 22,204 
  Total assets as at December 31, 2020 $ 240,456 $ 238,219 $ 1,184 $ 479,859 
  Total liabilities as at December 31, 2020 $ 242,385 $ 32,895 $ - $ 275,280 

 
 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2019 

Canadian  
Operations 

U.S.  
Operations Corporate Total 

  Revenue         
    Fracturing $ 251,544 $ 217,543 $ - $ 469,087 
    Coiled tubing  103,120  96,090  -  199,210 
    Total revenue  354,664  313,633  -  668,297 
  Expenses          
    Operating expenses  333,127  326,078  2,395  661,600 
    Selling, general and administrative  8,955  10,444  17,024  36,423 
  Results from operating activities  12,582  (22,889)  (19,419)  (29,726) 
    Finance costs  -  -  15,621  15,621 
    Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (1,896)  10  -  (1,886) 
    (Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment  (1,727)  762  -  (965) 
    Amortization of intangible assets  39  4,973  -  5,012 
    Foreign exchange forward contract loss  -  -  383  383 
    Impairment   -  127,217  -  127,217 
  Income (loss) before income tax  $ 16,166 $ (155,851) $ (35,423) $ (175,108) 
         
  Capital expenditures (1) $ 33,555 $ 28,684 $ - $ 62,239 
  Total assets as at December 31, 2019 $ 371,496 $ 312,184 $ 2,359 $ 686,039 
  Total liabilities as at December 31, 2019 $ 308,313 $ 54,903 $ - $ 363,216 

1) Capital expenditures include non-cash expenditures from the addition of leased right-of-use assets. 
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NOTE 21– RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
Key management personnel are comprised of the Company’s Board of Directors and executive officers. The compensation and 
other benefits paid to key management personnel are as follows: 
 

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 

Salaries, fees and short-term benefits $ 1,784 $ 2,436 

Post-employment benefits (group retirement savings plans)  2  74 

Share-based compensation  2,567  2,388 

 $ 4,353 $ 4,898 
 
ARC Energy Fund 6 Canadian Limited Partnership, ARC Energy Fund 6 United States Limited Partnership, ARC Energy Fund 6 
International Limited Partnership and ARC Capital 6 Limited Partnership (collectively, “ARC Energy Fund 6”) and ARC Energy 
Fund 8 Canadian Limited Partnership, ARC Energy Fund 8 United States Limited Partnership, ARC Energy Fund 8 International 
Limited Partnership and ARC Capital 8 Limited Partnership (collectively, “ARC Energy Fund 8”), each a private equity fund 
advised by ARC Financial Corp. have been investors in the Company since 2011 and 2015, respectively.   
 

NOTE 22 – SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 
The following table reconciles the net changes in non-cash working capital from the balance sheet to the cash flow statement: 
 

 
  

For the year ended December 31,  2020  2019 

Net change in non-cash working capital:     

     Trade and other receivables $ 43,163 $ 15,885 
     Inventory  1,314  3,377 
     Prepaid expenses  1,531  (2,137) 
     Trade and other payables  (28,979)  (5,567) 
 $ 17,029 $ 11,558 
     
Net change in non-cash working capital relate to:     
   Operating activities  $ 22,440 $ 10,301 
   Investing activities  (5,411)  1,257 

 $ 17,029 $ 11,558 
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